ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Anderson County

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JAN - 9 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

BARRY ALLEN EVANS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001863

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Whether Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel told the jury during opening statements that he would prove Petitioner "acted in self-defense on that day" and when he argued to the jury during closing arguments that "we proved it" since his statements shifted the burden of proof from the state to Petitioner and since no valid trial strategy would shift the burden of proof in this manner?

2.

Whether Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel failed to object to the jury instruction on mutual combat since there was no evidence of a mutual willingness to fight on equal terms and since there is a strong likelihood that this erroneous charge improperly affected the jury's deliberations and confused the self-defense issue?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Anderson County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner at the November 13, 2007 term of General Sessions for assault with intent to kill (AWIK) and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and at the July 22, 2008 term for assault and battery with intent to kill (ABIK). App. 393-394; App. 408-411. His case was called to trial on October 6, 2008 before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr., and a jury. Assistant Solicitors Scott McElhannon and Catherine Huey represented the state, and Fletcher N. Smith represented Petitioner. App. 1.

On October 8, 2008, the jury found Petitioner guilty of ABIK and the weapons charge, but acquitted him of AWIK. App. 263, ll. 8-24. He was sentenced by Judge Nicholson to twenty years imprisonment suspended upon the service of fourteen years imprisonment and five years probation for ABIK and five years concurrent for the weapons offense. App. 274, l. 5 – 275, l. 7.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions. State v. Evans, Op. No. 2011-UP-147 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed April 11, 2011).

On September 5, 2012, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 279-283. The state filed a return to this application dated January 25, 2013. App. 284-288. Petitioner filed an amended application for post-conviction relief on February 25, 2013 raising the issues argued in this brief. App. 289-291. The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on May 8, 2013 before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh. App. 292. Assistant Attorney General J. Walt Whitmire represented the state, and William N. Epps, III represented Petitioner. App. 292. By order dated July 23, 2013, Judge McIntosh denied Petitioner relief. App. 393-407.

On April 28, 2014, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari. The state filed a return on October 22, 2014. By order dated December 10, 2014, this Court granted the petition by a vote of all five justices. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Janice Lavoie, who lived directly across the street from Petitioner and his ex-wife, Linda Evans,¹ testified that on September 14, 2007 around five o'clock in the evening she was watching television when in her "peripheral vision" she saw Petitioner "running down the street . . . in a crouched position." She explained that as she was "kneeling on the couch looking out the window" she saw Petitioner approach Billy Craft who was getting into a car. She claimed Petitioner "[w]ent right over to Billy [Craft]" and "[s]tarted cutting him." According to Mrs. Lavoie, Craft "didn't even seem to be able to defend himself" and Petitioner "kept cutting." App. 55, l. 11 – 58, l. 3. She testified that Craft did not have a weapon and she did not see Craft pull a knife out of his pocket. App. 61, l. 16 – 62, l. 3. Furthermore, Mrs. Lavoie did not hear any words exchanged between Petitioner and Craft at the time the altercation began. She admitted that Craft could have told Petitioner, "I'm going to fuck you up." App. 66, l. 17 – 67, l. 1.

According to Mrs. Lavoie, sometime during the altercation, a young woman, who was in the backseat of the car Craft was getting into at the time the confrontation began, got out of the car and ran into the Lavoie residence. Mrs. Lavoie's husband, Kevin Lavoie, then left the house armed with a machete. Mrs. Lavoie claimed her husband went outside with a machete "to protect all of us." App. 58, ll. 8-11. She specifically denied that her husband tried to attack Petitioner and testified that Mr. Lavoie "just stood [in the yard] with [the machete]." App. 65, ll. 10-15. She claimed at some point Petitioner came up to her husband in the yard and said, "You are next, M-F." App. 66, ll. 1-4.

¹ Linda Evans is Petitioner's ex-wife. At some point while she was separated from Petitioner, but still married to him, she married the complainant, Billy Craft. However, Craft did not know Linda was still married to Petitioner when Craft married her. At the time of the incident, Petitioner and Linda were divorced, but had an on-again, off-again relationship. See App. 130, ll. 8-14; see also App. 112, ll. 6-11; see also App. 194, ll. 5-11.

Mrs. Lavoie also explained that at some point during the altercation, Linda Evans hit Petitioner with a car and pinned him up against the house. App. 67, ll. 6-11. Mark Durham, Petitioner's son-in-law, also came outside with a gun. App. 66, ll. 5-6

Kevin Lavoie testified that around five o'clock on September 14, 2007, he was watching television with his wife when his wife said, "What's [Ppetitioner] running down the road for?" As a result, he looked out the window and saw Petitioner in "an Indian position like he was stalking somebody." Mr. Lavoie claimed Petitioner ran up to the window of the car and attacked Billy Craft. He said, "I thought [Ppetitioner] was punching her [sic] at first until I seen the sun reflect and showed the straight razor." App. 70, l. 22 – 71, l. 23. Mr. Lavoie claimed Craft "put up his hand to defend himself then he fell to the ground, you know, like in a fetal position, and he just didn't move, didn't try to fight back or anything." App. 72, ll. 17-21. He claimed that he never saw Craft with a weapon. He also said that he did not hear Craft yell anything at Petitioner. App. 73, ll. 18-23.

Mr. Lavoie explained that the only other people around were Linda Evans, Mark Durham, who was Petitioner's son-in-law, and a young woman with a baby. He said the young woman ran into his house with her baby and he grabbed his machete and went outside "just in case [Ppetitioner] had come forward or was chasing anybody else." App. 71, l. 24 – 72, l. 13. He claimed that while he was outside in his yard Petitioner came towards him and said, "You're next." Mr. Lavoie said that he raised the machete to protect himself and Petitioner "walked down the side of the road to my next door neighbor on my left side and he grabbed a pipe. I believe it was about five or six feet long, and started chasing me with that. And he threw it at me, and I just went into the house." App. 74, ll. 1-12. According to Mr. Lavoie, the pipe hit the siding on his house. App. 74, ll. 17-22.

Additionally, Mr. Lavoie testified that Petitioner's ex-wife, Linda Evans, got into her car and drove - - tried to pin [Petitioner] against her own house" during the altercation. App. 71, ll. 22-25.

Mark Durham, who is married to Petitioner's daughter, was the next to testify. App. 88, l. 22 – 89, l. 4. He explained that around five o'clock on September 14, 2007, he was at Linda Evans' residence and was about to go to dinner with Linda, Billy Craft, and Nickie Scarborough, who had a baby with her. According to Durham, Linda and Nickie had already gotten into the car and Craft was walking towards the front passenger door. Durham, however, was the last person out of the house and had not reached the driveway yet. Durham testified that as he was walking down the front steps he noticed Petitioner coming out of the next door neighbor's house. App. 89, l. 5 – 90, l. 23. He explained, "[Petitioner] proceeded to come out to the road and he was just kind of walking at a trot, and Billy [Craft] was over at the passenger door." Durham said that when Petitioner reached Craft "[o]ne of them said something. Both of them started hollering then they started fighting. I didn't actually see the fight on the other side of the car happen." App. 91, ll. 8-22.

However, Durham was then impeached with the written statement he gave law enforcement the day of the incident where he said that Petitioner approached Craft, pulled a knife, and then began hitting Craft with his closed fist and slicing him with the knife. App. 91, ll. 23-25; App. 94, l. 16 – 95, l. 14. After being impeached, Durham testified that he did not see Craft with a knife or any other weapon that day. The only person he saw with a knife was Petitioner. App. 103, ll. 8-13.

However, on cross-examination, Durham explained that part of his written statement was incorrect and that he did not remember saying the part "about [Petitioner] pulling the knife beforehand." Durham did not know who pulled the knife out first, and that it is possible Petitioner

took the knife from Craft. He also explained that Craft was known to carry both a knife and a gun. App. 104, l. 18 – 105, l. 5.

Billy Craft testified that around five o'clock on September 14, 2007 he was at Linda Evans' house. App. 112, ll. 12-18. Craft explained that he, Linda, Durham, and a young woman from down the street were about to go to dinner together. App. 113, l. 9 – 114, l. 8. According to Craft, Durham, Linda, and the young woman were already in the car when he "looked to his left and saw three men coming down the road, and I noticed one right off the bat. It was Barry Evans. And he said, Hey Billy. I said, Hey, Barry." Craft claimed Petitioner then ran towards him and said, "I'm going to kill you." Craft said when he looked up Petitioner "had a straight razor" and began cutting him. He testified that he "couldn't do nothing" and he was "trying to block it" but Petitioner was "cutting his hands all to pieces." App. 114, l. 9 – 115, l. 9. He claimed he got cut a "bunch" of times. App. 115, ll. 17-19.

Craft told the jury that **he was not armed** that day and did nothing to provoke Petitioner. App. 116, ll. 2-6. He also testified, "**If I of knowed Barry [Petitioner] was going to do anything of that nature**, you know, I couldn't run from him because I'd of fell over, you know. But I would have tried to pick a rock up to throw at him, or something, but **I didn't have the slightest idea.**" App. 121, ll. 11-19 (emphasis added).

John Johnson, who testified during Petitioner's case in chief, explained that he lived right next door to Petitioner and Linda Evans. He said that Petitioner had been staying with him for about five to six months before the incident, but that Petitioner would travel back and forth from his residence to Linda's residence. App. 174, l. 13 – 175, l. 17. Johnson was present when the altercation took place on September 14, 2007. He explained that around five o'clock that evening, Petitioner and Tony Martin left Johnson's residence to walk to Martin's house. Johnson testified

that the only way to walk to Martin's house was to pass by Linda's residence. As Martin and Petitioner were walking by Linda's house, Petitioner and Craft began "cussing at each other." According to Johnson, Craft started the incident because Craft is "the one that came out of the yard" and said "he was going to get him [Petitioner]." Johnson explained, "Barry Evans just turned around and asked him what was he going to get him for, and then that's when they locked up to each other. That was all I could tell right there because they was between two vehicles." App. 176, l. 23 – 179, l. 7. He was ultimately able to see Petitioner and Craft fighting. App. 181, ll. 13-14.

According to Johnson, Craft is the one who had the weapon because he knew Petitioner did not have a weapon. He said he knew Petitioner did not have a weapon because "he was at my house that day and I made sure he did not have none." App. 179, ll. 8-16. Johnson also saw Craft with the knife and is certain that it came out of Craft's pocket. App. 188, ll. 3-8.

Petitioner, who took the stand in his own defense, testified that on September 14, 2007, he was at John Johnson's house with Tony Martin. At some point, Martin and Petitioner left Johnson's house to walk to Martin's residence, which was right down the street. Petitioner had no intention of fighting Craft that day and "**never even knew Billy Craft was there.**" He explained that as they passed by Linda's house, Craft "spoke up" and said, "What the hell you doing around here?" Craft then "started toward" Petitioner and "pulled a knife" on him. The two struggled until "some way [Petitioner] got the knife and . . . that's when the knife cut his [Craft's] hand." Petitioner explained that as he was trying to get away, Linda hit him with a car and Craft "was stomping me while I was on the car. Then when I got out from under the car I just started cutting. And I hate that he got cut like that but I was just trying to get free so I could flee." Petitioner was eventually able to get away. He turned himself in the next day. App. 194, l. 16 – 196, l. 24 (emphasis added).

Petitioner testified that Craft was known to carry a knife and was known as “bas ass Billy.” Petitioner also explained that he knew Craft had “cut Ralph Woods up real bad.” App. 197, ll. 19-22. Petitioner cut Craft that day not because he was angry, but because he was scared. He said, “I was cutting at him to try to get away” and that he was in fear of his life. App. 201, ll. 8-19.

During closing arguments, trial counsel told the jury that Petitioner “was defending himself against this man, Billy Craft.” He argued that Craft had a knife, Petitioner and Craft “struggled” over the knife, and Petitioner ultimately took the knife from Craft. He said, “[Petitioner] had a right to defend himself. If someone draws a weapon on you or if someone goes in their pocket and you think they’ve got a gun in their pocket or if they come after you with a knife you have a right to defend yourself to the fullest extent of the law. Barry Evans had a right to defend himself on September the 14th, 2007, otherwise there wouldn’t be any dispute here and the Judge would not have to charge self defense.” App. 218, l. 10 – 219, l. 3.

The solicitor argued during his closing argument, “[Petitioner] ran out of that house crouched down, as you heard the Lavoies say, in an Indian couch [sic] or like he was running down the road to hide. He was trying to be deceptive so that no one would see him until it was too late, and he succeeded. He came all the way up to the car where Billy Craft was getting into the car already and struck him in the back of the head to knock him to the ground and then began cutting on him, just slashing him.” App. 227, ll. 1-8. The solicitor also argued, “Billy Craft never had a knife in this incident. He never had a knife in his hand.” App. 228, ll. 17-18.

In regards to the AWIK charge, the solicitor argued, “[Petitioner] came after Kevin Lavoie into their yard with the knife. Kevin Lavoie did have a machete and Barry Evans picked up this fence post and threw it, and you heard the clank [on the 911 tape]. You could hear it hit the side of

the house. Kevin Lavoie was in fear of his life because he saw what Barry Evans had just done to Billy Craft. That's assault with intent to kill." App. 231, ll. 9-17.

Near the end of the solicitor's argument he stated, "This is not a case of self-defense, **it's not a case of mutual combat**. This is a case of an attack on an innocent person . . ." App. 232, ll. 18-20 (emphasis added).

ARGUMENT

1.

Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel told the jury during opening statements that he would prove Petitioner "acted in self-defense on that day" and when he argued to the jury during closing arguments that "we proved it" since his statements shifted the burden of proof from the state to Petitioner and since no valid trial strategy would shift the burden of proof in this manner.

Relevant Facts

During opening statements, trial counsel told the jury, "[W]e're going to prove to you in this case, members of the jury, that these are false charges that have been brought against Mr. Barry Evans. *We're going to prove to you in this case that he acted in self-defense* on that day." App. 50, ll. 3-6 (emphasis added). Trial counsel also told the jury, "We are going to prove to you, members of the jury, he is not guilty of assault and battery with intent to kill." App. 51, ll. 11-12.

Later during opening statements, the solicitor objected when trial counsel told the jury that the complainant, Billy Craft, was a "cocaine user" and sold drugs. The trial court responded in front of the jury, "Mr. Smith, don't make arguments. *Tell them what you are going to prove.* Stay away from arguing your case, please, sir." Trial counsel then immediately told the jury, "*We're going to prove to you that he's not guilty.*" App. 52, l. 19 – 53, l. 12 (emphasis added).

Additionally, during closing arguments, trial counsel told the jury, "[A]t the beginning of this trial *I told you what we were going to prove and I think we proved it.*" App. 215, ll. 16-17 (emphasis added). He further argued, "We didn't hide behind the standard of reasonable doubt. We didn't hide behind the standard of presumption of innocence." App. 216, ll. 9-10.

PCR Hearing

Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing that trial counsel told the jury, “he would prove self-defense” and that Petitioner was not guilty of ABIK. Petitioner said he a “problem” with trial counsel’s statements because “that put the burden on me instead of the State.” He explained, “I’ve always assumed it was the State’s burden to prove your guilt. You’re innocent until proven guilty.” Petitioner said he thought trial counsel’s burden shifting statements affected the outcome of his trial and put in the minds of the jurors that he had to prove a defense to the charges. App. 303, l. 15 – 304, l. 20.

Trial counsel, Fletcher Smith, testified that Petitioner’s defense at trial was self-defense. App. 334, ll. 22-24. He explained self-defense “was what our defense was going to be because the whole point was, that was why [Petitioner] was taking the knife away from the guy. When you look at [Petitioner’s] testimony, this is basically what he said. He took the knife from the guy and he was defending himself from the knife attack on his own property, so yes, that’s self-defense.” App. 335, l. 23 – 336, l. 4. Trial counsel admitted that he told the jury during opening statements, “We are going to prove to you in this case that he acted in self-defense on that day.” App. 335, ll. 11-19; App. 336, ll. 20-23.

Trial counsel testified that he knows the burden is on the state to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt and that self-defense is no longer an affirmative defense that has to be proved by a preponderance of the evidence by the defendant. App. 336, l. 20 – 337, l. 6. However, he explained, “I win more cases by *taking the burden of proof and proving it* and the kick to it is, I went to the University of Virginia seminar talking about Judge Histerm who was a federal prosecutor and a United States District Court Judge. In criminal cases that the defendant relies on in opening statements on the presumption of innocence and things of that nature, the defendants

usually lose. The judge is going to direct anything the lawyer does subsequently in his jury charge, so anything that I may say in opening statement, the judge is going to correct it two times. Whatever he says in an opening statement is not fact. It's an opening statement. These are opening statements. And number two, when we get down to the conclusion of the trial, I can actually say to the jury, 'We proved to you that Mr. Evans was not the aggressor in this, that so-and-so was' and things of that nature and then I've made a bond with the jury at that point and then at that point when the judge actually charges the jury he knocks out all the arguments that were made by counsel and tells the jury that they can only believe what comes from the witness stand. And it worked with machete guy [the AWIK charge]. It just didn't work with the other one." App. 337, l. 8 – 338, l. 6 (emphasis added).

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