RECEIVED

MAY 13 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Writ of Certiorari to Anderson County
Honorable J. C. Nicholson, Jr., Trial Judge
Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, PCR Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-001863

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

Barry Allen Evans,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WALT WHITMIRE
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Reversal is inappropriate where ample probative evidence supports the PCR Judge's finding that Petitioner failed to prove counsel's performance in his opening statement constituted ineffective assistance of counsel.

Petitioner stated counsel should not have told the jury in his opening statement that he would prove self-defense because it shifted the burden of proof to him. Counsel testified he did not shift the burden of proof in his opening statement. Counsel testified he learned the technique he employed in his opening statement in a University of Virginia seminar. In counsel's professional assessment, he opined that his opening statement could not have harmed Petitioner's case in light of the Trial Judge's sound jury instruction. **App.pp.337-40.**

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for review of a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether "any evidence of probative value" exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their

application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

Effective Assistance of Counsel

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052)).

The First Circuit recited that U.S.S.C. has not considered ineffective assistance claims in the context of broken promises from the opening statement. Sleeper v. Spencer, 510 F.3d 32 (1st Cir. 2007). The First Circuit upheld the state disposition finding no ineffectiveness where the jury would have no basis to be disappointed when all the evidence was considered. Id. Furthermore, "strategic choices are given greater latitude during trial when time is short." Phoenix v. Matesanz, 233 F.3d 77, 84 (1st Cir. 2000).

ANALYSIS

First, the PCR Judge correctly found that counsel's opening statement did not function as a burden shift. In his opening statement, trial counsel said "[w]e're going to prove to you in this case that [the Applicant] acted in self-defense on that day." The Record supports the PCR Judge's finding of law where the Trial Judge properly charged

the jury that the burden was on the State to prove the Applicant's guilt and disprove the Applicant's defense of self-defense. **App.p.235, ln. 19-23; p.338, ln. 2-6.** See Coogler v. Thompson, 286 S.C. 168, 169, 332 S.E.2d 215, 216 (Ct. App. 1985) ("When an instruction has been corrected by the court and it appears with reasonable certainty the jury was not misled, it will be presumed on appeal that the jury accepted the correction as the law of the case and applied it").

Regardless, counsel provided a sound reason for his strategy and fully explained that he learned this technique at a seminar. Counsel further explained that it aided his performance in prior representations. See Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995) (finding where trial counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct should not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel).

Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by counsel's performance.

II.

Reversal is inappropriate where the PCR Judge correctly found Petitioner failed to prove counsel's performance was purportedly ineffective for failing to object to the Trial Judge's jury instruction on mutual combat where counsel, the Trial Judge, and the PCR Judge all correctly assessed that instruction was supported by the evidence. Furthermore, ample probative evidence shows that Petitioner's theory of self-defense concerning the assault of Victim Billy Craft was incredible in light of the compelling eyewitness testimony on the stabbing in conjunction with dispositive physical evidence.

Petitioner alleged counsel should have objected to the Trial Judge's issuance of jury instructions on both mutual combat and self-defense. Counsel disagreed with Petitioner's post hoc assessment and noted that evidence supported the instructions. In particular, Petitioner's trial testimony where he explained his version of the incident as follows: Petitioner continued to relentlessly stab Victim Billy Craft because Craft's proxies in narcotics distribution acted in defense of him by assaulting and threatening to assault Petitioner with deadly weapons; thus under Petitioner's version, he was unable to retreat from the altercation with Victim Craft. Simply, Petitioner would not have been entitled to a self-defense instruction but for his incredible trial testimony that also triggered the mutual combat instruction. Counsel merely presented a sound case based upon his Petitioner's statements and representations to him. **App.p.332, ln.8-11; p.382;** Regardless, counsel gave convincing testimony at the PCR hearing that self-defense was just not realistic concerning Petitioner's ABWIK conviction on Victim Craft based upon nature and depravity of the stabbing. **App.p.336, ln.11-20.**

Effective Assistance of Counsel

Counsel has an obligation to understand the law. Joseph v. Coyle, 469 F.3d 441, 460 (6th Cir. 2006). It is not ineffectiveness to fail to object to an instruction that was proper at the time it was given." Gaston v. Whitley, 67 F.3d 121, 123 (5th Cir.1995). If, however, an instruction as given is legally accurate, failure to request additional instructions is not ineffective assistance. Aparicio v. Artuz, 269 F.3d 78, 99-100 (2nd Cir. 2001). Failure to object to an instruction is not ineffective assistance where the instruction had no substantial or injurious effect or influence. Galvan v. Cockrell, 293 F.3d 760, 766 (5th Cir. 2002).

The law to be charged is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Holland, 385 S.C. 159, 165, 682 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 2009). To warrant reversal, a trial judge's charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial. Ellison v. Parts Distributors, Inc., 302 S.C. 299, 395 S.E.2d 740 (Ct. App.1990).

Mutual Combat

The apparent willingness of each party to engage in an armed encounter with the other, sustains an inference that they were engaged in mutual combat at the time of the [underlying offense], and requires that the issue be submitted to the jury for determination. State v. Graham, 260 S.C. 449, 452, 196 S.E.2d 495, 496 (1973). To constitute mutual combat there must exist a mutual intent and willingness to fight. Nauful v. Milligan, 258 S.C. 139, 187 S.E.2d 511; and this intent may be manifested by the acts and conduct of the parties and the circumstances attending and leading up to the combat. State v. Graham, 260 S.C. 449, 450, 196 S.E.2d 495, 495 (1973).

In Taylor, this Court revisited mutual doctrine framework and announced the instruction is limited to instances where (1) The parties had an antecedent agreement to fight on equal terms; (2) The parties were armed with deadly weapons; (3) Each party knew the other was armed; (4) Each party contributed to the combat. State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 589 S.E.2d 1 (2003).

“If the defendant is engaged in mutual combat, self-defense is unavailable unless the defendant withdraws from the conflict before the [degree harm necessary to establish the offense in question] occurs.” Taylor, 356 S.C. at 232, 589 S.E.2d at 3. However, mutual combat and self-defense are not mutually exclusive. State v. Jackson, 384 S.C. 29, 38, 681 S.E.2d 17, 22 (Ct. App. 2009) (emphasis added).

ANALYSIS

A.

The PCR Judge correctly rejected Petitioner's perfunctory assignment of error to the Trial Judge for issuing mutual combat and self-defense instructions that were both soundly within the ambit of the unique evidence offered at trial appropriately described as a "melee" by Petitioner's PCR counsel. **App.p.296, ln. 18.**

First, this Court adopted the Texas and Colorado adherence to an "antecedent agreement to fight" that must exist for the court to charge mutual combat. Taylor, 356 S.C. at 233, 589 S.E.2d at 4 (internal citations omitted). Petitioner directs this Court to Petitioner and Victim Billy Craft's coy testimonies about the feud in support of his assertion that there was no evidence of an antecedent agreement to fight. The argument is entirely unpersuasive. See State v. Montanez, 894 A.2d 928, 936 (2006) ("Although the present case lacks direct evidence of an agreement to fight, the jury nonetheless could have inferred an implicit agreement to fight from the evidence"). Petitioner incorrectly employs a qualitative analysis of the evidence reserved to the province of the jury. See Jackson, 384 S.C. at 39, 681 S.E.2d at 22 (finding "only that more than one reasonable inference may be drawn as to whether the accused was the aggressor or provoked the assault and that these inferences must be resolved by the jury, not the court").

Petitioner conveniently ignores evidence introduced that established an Anderson County equivalent "Hatfield McCoy" feud between Petitioner and Victim Craft. "The doctrine has most often been applied in situations where the defendant and decedent bear a grudge against each other before the fight in which one of them is killed occurs." Taylor, 356 S.C. at 232, 589 S.E.2d at 4 (citing State v. Porter, 269 S.C. 618, 239 S.E.2d 641 (1977)). The historical animosity between Petitioner and Victim Craft was saturated with mutual hatred. Petitioner and Victim Craft married each other's ex-wives, which

turned bigamous; domestic tensions led to violent encounters. Petitioner testified Victim Craft previously pulled a gun on him in an incident involving crack cocaine. **App.p.198**. Petitioner testified “he’s always been known as bad ass Billy.” **App.p.197, ln. 24**. A State’s witness even testified that Victim Craft had pulled a gun on the witness several years prior to the incident because “[Victim] Craft thought I was [Petitioner] knocking on his door.” **App.p.105, ln. 15-16**. Prior altercations conditioned Victim Craft to automatically arm himself when he thought Petitioner was at his front door. **App.p.107**. Thus, the evidence showed a mutual expectation that altercations would be resolved through the use of deadly weapons. See State v. Graham, 260 S.C. 449, 450, 196 S.E.2d 495, 495 (1973) (“There was ill-will between the parties. They had threatened each other and it is inferable that they had armed themselves to settle their differences at gun point”).

Evidence was introduced that showed Petitioner confronted Victim Craft in an attempt to kill him. Days after Linda kicked Petitioner out of the family home, Victim Craft took up residence with Linda in Petitioner’s absence. Petitioner decided to confront Victim Craft after Petitioner casually observed him in Linda’s home: **App.p.109**. Petitioner’s son-in-law Mark Durham gave a statement that Petitioner approached Victim Craft, knife in hand. **App.p.94, ln. 17-20**. Victim Craft also testified Petitioner threatened to kill him while brandishing a knife. **App.p.114**. Other witness offered similar accounts. Additionally, the evidence here also served to show that Petitioner’s conduct contributed to the incident.

Similarly, evidence was introduced that established Victim Craft had shared the willingness to fight and kill Petitioner. Petitioner testified that he planned to report Linda and Victim Craft’s narcotics enterprise to law enforcement. **App.p.206, ln. 12-13**. Even

State witnesses testified Victim Craft was Linda's wholesale narcotics supplier. **App.p.104**. Petitioner testified that he approached Linda's home to visit their daughter when Victim Craft attacked him with a knife. **App.p.197**. John Johnson, another resident in the trailer park and friend of Petitioner, witnessed the incident from his front porch and testified Victim Craft told Petitioner, "that he was going to get him." **App.p.178, ln. 19**. John had known Victim Craft for over twelve years and testified "anybody knows if [Victim Craft]'d of come out he's always got a knife or a gun. **App.p.188, ln. 4-5**. Additionally, the evidence of adultery and narcotics distribution in a home occupied by Petitioner's child showed Victim Craft's conduct also contributed to the incident.

Second, evidence was introduced that each side offered deadly armed parties into the fight. In Taylor, this Court looked to Georgia, the jurisdiction with extensive jurisprudence on mutual combat doctrine, in adopting its standard that "mutual combat arises only when the parties are armed with deadly weapons, and that mutual combat does not arise from "a mere fist fight or scuffle." Taylor, 356 S.C. at 233, 589 S.E.2d at 4 (citing Flowers v. State, 247 S.E.2d 217, 218 (1978); Grant v. State, 170 S.E.2d 55, 56 (1969)). Georgia further applies its mutual combat doctrine to accomplice liability. "Participation in mutual combat by providing a weapon to one of the other parties is sufficient to support a conviction for voluntary manslaughter as a party to the crime." Mitchell v. State, 225 Ga. App. 26, 27, 482 S.E.2d 419, 421 (1997).

Applying Mitchell, the relevant matter here is not whether Petitioner and Victim Craft were both armed with deadly weapons during the fight.¹ Instead, the dispositive inquiry is whether any evidence that established an inference that Victim Craft acted in

¹ Petitioner and Victim Craft both claim the other combatant brought the knife into the fight; ergo, only a single weapon. However, their testimonies established the element that each party knew that the other was typically armed with deadly weapons.

concert with other deadly armed combatants in a fight against an armed Petitioner.² John Johnson witnessed Linda strike Petitioner with her car that she was sitting in when the fight began. **App.p.181**. Thus, evidence sustained an inference that Linda entered the “melee” armed with a deadly weapon based on her use of the vehicle. Similarly, numerous other witnesses testified Kevin Lavoie, the second victim, armed with a machete, and Mark Durham, armed with a gun, were other parties in the faceoff against Petitioner.

The evidence sustained an inference that Linda, Mark Durham, and Kevin Lavoie acted under the direction of Victim Craft during the fight. The other two armed parties, Mark Durham and Victim Lavoie, made admissions about their illegal narcotics transactions with Victim Craft. Furthermore, Victim Craft testified that he directed Mark Durham to shoot his own father-in-law. Certainly, Victim Craft’s posture in directing a third party to shoot and kill a family member sustained an inference that Victim Craft exercised his rank in the narcotics outfit to marshal the other parties to use their deadly weapons to kill Petitioner.

Petitioner’s testimony that he was going to alert the police about the narcotics operation alternatively sustained an inference that the other deadly armed parties were acting under Victim Craft’s control against Petitioner where Petitioner’s posture implicated criminal prosecutions on each one of them. The statement sustained an

² In the event that this Court rejects Mitchell and the progeny of other Georgia case law here, Petitioner cannot as a matter of law prove counsel’s performance deficient where he is not bound by a duty of clairvoyance to anticipate a novel issues of law. See Thornes v. State, 310 S.C. 306, 309-10, 426 S.E.2d 764, 765 (1993) This Court has never required an attorney to anticipate or discover changes in the law, or facts which did not exist, at the time of the trial. Certainly, it is objectively reasonable performance to reason that an objection to the mutual combat charge would have proved fruitless based on this Court’s past reliance on jurisprudence from Georgia in this area of law.

inference that Petitioner believed the fight concerned more than the love triangle and that it involved more than a single hostile party. The day after the incident, Petitioner gave a statement to police that in part noted, “I think [Linda]’s tried to run over me because I told her I was going to turn her in for selling drugs.” **App.p.205, ln. 12-14.**

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